FILED

APR 1 0 2013

COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION III STATE OF WASHINGTON By

No. 312135

.

(Kittitas County Superior Court No. 082002490)

### COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION III OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

### GARY WIVAG and SHERRY TRUMBALL, d/b/a/ S&G LAND LTD.,

Appellants,

vs.

### CITY OF CLE ELUM,

Respondent.

### **BRIEF OF APPELLANTS**

Richard M. Stephens, WSBA # 21776 W. Forrest Fischer, WSBA # 44156 GROEN STEPHENS & KLINGE LLP 10900 NE 8th Street, Suite 1325 Bellevue, WA 98004 Telephone: (425) 453-6206 Attorneys for Appellants

FILED

APR 1 0 2013

COURT OF APPLALS DIVISION III STATE OF WASHINGTON By

No. 312135

.

(Kittitas County Superior Court No. 082002490)

### INTRODUCTION

Gary Wivag and Sherry Trumball, d/b/a/ S&G Land LTD, (collectively referred to hereafter as "Wivag") own and operate a business that engages in retail and consignment sales called the Trading Post in the City of Cle Elum. *See* CP 14. Wivag operates this business on his property ("Property"). However, this business essentially ended when the City of Cle Elum (City) forcefully entered Wivag's Property and removed and destroyed thousands of dollars' worth of inventory.

The City removed and destroyed Wivag's Trading Post inventory under the guise of executing a stipulated judgment entered in a case brought by Wivag against the City in January 2012. However, this was illegal as the City failed to comply with controlling statute statutes and local city ordinances which pertain to proper execution of judgments. Altogether, the City zealously destroyed Wivag's inventory without bothering to go through the proper legal procedures to do so. I then had the trial court command Wivag to reimburse the City for the costs it unnecessarily incurred in gutting his business.

Given these facts and the City's blatant disregard of controlling laws, the trial court's granting of the City's Motion for Supplemental Costs should be reversed and ultimately denied.

### ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR AND ISSUES RELATING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

Assignment of Error No. 1: The Trial Court Erred in Granting the City's Motion for Supplemental Judgment.

### **Issues:**

1. Did the City violate RCW 6.17.070 by engaging in selfhelp in removing inventory from Wivag's property without a court order?

2. Did the City fail to comply with its own preconditions to enforcement of nuisance abatement?

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On January 17, 2012, a Stipulated Judgment and Injunction in favor of the City ("Judgment") was entered in Kittitas Superior Court. CP 2. This Judgment stemmed from an action for nuisance abatement brought by the City against Wivag. *Id.* The City alleged that Wivag violated the Cle Elum Municipal Code (CEMC) by, *inter alia*, storing what it determined "junk" on his industrial-zoned property, thus transforming it into a "junkyard." CP 51. However, the hearing examiner disagreed, requiring that Wivag only install a site-obscuring fence in order to remove any potential visual nuisances from the property. CP 65. Wivag subsequently appealed the hearing examiner's decision to superior Court. This appeal ultimately culminated in the City and Wivag stipulating to a judgment regarding the alleged violations of the CEMC still in dispute. CP 2. From this Judgment, Wivag was to do the following:

 Pay the City \$10,000.00 within three calendar days from entry of the Judgment;

2. File a complete application for a Conditional Use Permit pursuant to the Cle Elum Municipal Code by February 29, 2012; and,

 Install a site obscuring fence along the entire frontage of the Property by March 31, 2012.

Id.

Immediately after the Judgment was entered, Wivag paid the required \$10,000 to the City within the specified time period. CP 120. This satisfied the first of the actions required by the Judgment. On February 23, 2012, Wivag filed a Conditional Use Permit Application ("Application") with the City using its form. *Id.* This Application contained a description of Wivag's use and operation of the Property, two hand drawn maps depicting the location of Wivag's property as well as the buildings upon it, and a twopage narrative detailing Wivag's various businesses conducted on the Property. *Id.* At the time he submitted his Application, Wivag thought that it was complete and contained all the required documentation. *Id.* Two weeks after Wivag submitted his application, he spoke with City Administrator Matthew Morton who informed him that he believed Wivag's application was missing certain elements. *Id.* By March 16<sup>th</sup>, Wivag sent in additional documentation. *Id.* 

In spite of sending in the additional documentation, Wivag received a letter from the City informing him that his Application was incomplete. *Id.* This letter is undated, but is stamped "March 20, 2012" as if the City stamped it prior to sending. Wivag believes he received it the following day (March 21). This letter identified three areas determined to be incomplete within the Application. *Id.* However the letter provided no time period within which Wivag had to submit additional materials. The failure to specify a time period violates Cle Elum Municipal Code (CEMC) 17.100.060(A).<sup>1</sup> Nevertheless, Wivag had already provided this information

to the City on March 16th. CP 120.

Also during the month of March, Wivag began preparations for the installation of a site-obscuring fence along the perimeter of his property. *Id.* 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> CEMC 17.100.060(A) states:

Within twenty-eight days of receiving an application the city shall provide a determination of whether the application is complete for processing. If a determination is not made within the required twentyeight days, the application shall be automatically deemed complete. If a determination is made that the application is incomplete the city shall clearly identify the necessary materials and **set a reasonable time period in which the applicant has to submit the additional items.** Following the submittal of additional items, the city shall notify the applicant within fourteen days whether the application is complete. If the submitted materials do not address the incompleteness the city may either request the additional information in the same manner as the first attempt or deny the application pursuant to subsection D. (emphasis added)

His preparations primarily included removal of the wire fence that was, at that time, surrounding the Property. *Id.* Unfortunately, Wivag was operating under the mistaken belief that he had until May to complete the construction of his fence. *Id.* He had this belief due to his reliance on a draft of the Judgment given to him during negotiations on stipulating to a judgment. The draft listed May 15<sup>th</sup> as the specified deadline for the construction of the fence. *Id., see also* CP 123.<sup>2</sup> Thus, by relying on the draft, Wivag mistakenly did not finish installing the fence by March 31<sup>st</sup>.

Around the last week in April 2012, Wivag received a letter from the City advising him that it would begin "abatement activity on Tuesday May 1" at his Property, citing authorization from the January 9th Judgment. CP 120, 127. The City attempted to justify this notice of abatement stating "[i]t is unfortunate that you chose not to comply with the terms of the Stipulated Judgment and Injunction." CP 127. The letter, however, contained no specific information as to what terms of the Judgment Wivag violated or any opportunity to remedy the situation before the abatement began. *See id.* 

Until Wivag received the notice of abatement from the City, he believed that he was completely complying with the Judgment. CP 120. He received no previous notices or communications pertaining to the fact that he

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Please note that the Declaration of Gary Wivag (CP 119) mistakenly mislabeled the attached exhibits. Specifically, where Wivag refers to Exhibit B in his declaration, it should be Exhibit A. And where Wivag refers to Exhibit C, it should be Exhibit B.

had not yet started construction of his fence. *Id.* Indeed, he still believed up to the point he received the City's notice that he had until May 15th to complete his fence. *Id.* Nevertheless, after receiving this notice, Wivag immediately called his fencing company and had them completely install the site-obscuring fence within the following days. *Id.* 

On May 1st, *after the fence was installed*, the City showed up to Wivag's Property with a fleet of vehicles. CP 121. In spite of the presence of the newly constructed site-obscuring fence, the City proceeded to remove Wivag's inventory. *Id.* When Wivag asked to see a warrant, none was provided. *Id.* By the end of the day, the City removed Wivag's entire inventory—worth tens of thousands of dollars—completely gutting his business. *Id.* The City also removed and destroyed business records, including copies of tax returns, as well as personal documents such as vehicle titles and loan information. Shortly thereafter, Wivag was forced to close his business operations. *Id.* 

To add insult to injury, the City subsequently brought a motion for supplemental judgment, seeking \$13,519.49 in costs for the forceful removal of Wivag's inventory. CP 32. In spite of Wivag's opposition that the City improperly executed the judgment, the trial court granted the City's motion for supplemental judgment on September 24, 2012. CP 129. This appeal follows.

- 6 -

### ARGUMENT

### I.

### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

This Court conducts a *de novo* review of "a trial court's legal conclusions, including its statutory interpretation(s)." *Vance v. XXXL Dev., LLC*, 150 Wn. App. 39, 41 (2009) (citing *Am. Legion Post No. 32 v. City of Walla Walla*, 116 Wn.2d 1, 5 (1991)). Additionally, this Court reviews an "agency's factual findings under the substantial evidence standard." *Wenatchee Sportsmen Ass'n v. Chelan County*, 141 Wn.2d 169, 176 (2000). "Under the substantial evidence standard, there must be a sufficient quantum of evidence in the record to persuade a reasonable person that the declared premise is true." *Id.* (citations omitted).

The issues on appeal here should are entirely legal in nature and should be reviewed *de novo* by this Court as they involve the interpretation of and the conformance with state statutes and local city ordinances. *See Sleasman v. City of Lacey*, 159 Wn.2d 639, 642 (2007).

/// ///

111

### THE CITY IMPROPERLY EXECUTED THE JUDGMENT AGAINST WIVAG, IN VIOLATION OF RCW 6.17.070

II.

RCW 6.17.060 identifies three ways to accomplish execution upon

a judgment:

(1) First, against the property of the judgment debtor;

(2) Second, for the delivery of the possession of real or personal property or such delivery with damages for withholding the same; and

# (3) Third, commanding the enforcement of or obedience to any other order of the court.

(numbering, spacing and emphasis added); *see also* Appendix A. The first provision of RCW 6.17.060 originally applied to Wivag because he was a judgment-debtor for \$10,000. CP 41. However, after he paid this amount, his judgment-debtor status ceased. CP 120.

The second provision does not apply to Wivag as the Judgment did not involve the delivery of real or personal property. *See* CP 41. Pertaining to the third option, this "kind of execution permits service of a certified copy of the judgment on the person against whom the judgment was entered or to whom it was directed, together with a writ of execution commanding obedience to or enforcement of the judgment...." Marjorie D. Rombauer, 28 WASHINGTON PRACTICE: Creditors' Remedies – Debtors' Relief § 7.41, Kinds of Execution (2012). This third option directly

applies to Wivag and the enforcement of the Judgment.

After a writ of execution is served, if the person against whom the judgment was entered disobeys or otherwise does not comply with the judgment, said person is subject to RCW 6.17.070 which states:

When a judgment of a court of record requires the performance of any other act, a certified copy of the judgment may be served on the party against whom it is given or the person or officer who is required by the judgment or by law to obey the same, and **a writ may be issued** commanding the person or officer to obey or enforce the judgment. **Refusal to do so may be punished by the court as for contempt**.

Id. (emphasis added); see also Appendix A.

RCW 6.17.070 specifically identifies the issuance of a writ and then "contempt" as being the remedial course of action for the disobedience of a court order and gives no authorization for self-help execution. *See id.* Indeed, the court's civil contempt power is the primary vehicle for ensuring compliance with a court order: "The primary purpose of the civil contempt power is to coerce a party to comply with an order or **judgment**." *Smith v. Whatcom County Dist. Court*, 147 Wn.2d 98, 105 (2002) (citation omitted) (emphasis added); *see also King v. Dep't of Soc. & Health Services*, 110 Wn.2d 793, 800 (1988) ("the purpose of a civil contempt sanction is to coerce future behavior that complies with a court order.").

To bring an action for contempt, the aggrieved party must file a motion to the court. RCW 7.21.030(1); Appendix A. When the action or inaction triggering the motion for contempt occurs outside of the court room, the contemnor must be afforded notice and hearing before the court may enforce an order of contempt. *Id.* At this hearing, the court may conduct review hearings to determine whether the contemnor has complied with requirements imposed at previous hearings. *See State ex rel. Shafer v. Bloomer*, 94 Wn. App. 246 (1999).

During this review, the party seeking a finding of contempt has the burden of proving the contemptuous conduct by a preponderance of the evidence. *In re Marriage of James*, 79 Wn. App. 436 (1995). Even if a person is found in contempt, he/she must be afforded the opportunity to "purge" the contempt charge by complying with the original order within a reasonable time. *See State ex rel. Shafer v. Bloomer*, 94 Wn. App. 246, 253 (1999) (An order of remedial civil contempt must contain a purge clause under which a contemnor has the ability to avoid a finding of contempt and/or incarceration for non-compliance).

Applying these clear rules to this case, the City failed to both serve a writ of execution and failed to bring an action of contempt against

- 10 -

Wivag for his alleged violations of the Judgment, as is required. Rather, the City engaged in self-help, forcefully removing inventory and other items from Wivag's Property under the guise of executing the Judgment, and incurred completely avoidable and unnecessary costs.

In fact, the City willfully ignored that, at the time it arrived at Wivag's Property on May 1, 2012, the site-obscuring fence had been fully constructed—fulfilling the last remaining command of the Judgment. CP 120-121. The presence of this fence, in tandem with Wivag's pending conditional use permit,<sup>3</sup> and the payment of \$10,000,<sup>4</sup> removed any need for enforcement. And yet, in spite of this fact, the City proceeded anyway. The City admits claims it "fundamentally...wanted [Wivag's] property cleaned up," regardless of whether or not he was in compliance with the judgment. *See* Verbatim Report of Proceedings, at p. 3. However, the record suggests a more retributive motive. *See* CP 121.

While Wivag readily admits that he misunderstood the date by which he had to construct the site-obscuring fence,<sup>5</sup> failure to comply by this date did not authorize the City to proceed in the manner that it did. In fact, had the City gone through the proper channels of serving a writ which would have alerted Wivag to the new timeline for a fence—Wivag

<sup>3</sup> CP 120

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> CP 120-121

would have constructed the fence even sooner, thereby removing any visible nuisance.<sup>6</sup>

Instead, Wivag explained: "the City ignored everything I did to comply with the judgment and seemed more concerned with putting me out of business than actually enforcing city codes." CP 121. Such a statement is bolstered in two ways: first by the fact that the City did not inform Wivag of his noncompliance or violation of the Judgment until approximately five days prior to its notice of abatement on May 1<sup>st</sup>; and second, because the City was only concerned with a site-obscuring fence to hide what it unilaterally designated as "junk" from public view. Verbatim Report of Proceedings, p. 3. If the City were truly concerned with abating the visual nuisance, it would not have expended thousands of dollars to remove materials that were already obscured from public view.

Simply put, Wivag endeavored to comply as best as he could with the Judgment. He paid the \$10,000 fine, applied for a conditional use permit, and installed a site-obscuring fence. The fact that the fence was not installed by a certain date does not erase Wivag's <u>substantial</u> <u>compliance</u> with the Judgment in good faith. That being said, at the moment the City realized or discovered Wivag's noncompliance with the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> This is evidenced by the fact that, as soon as Wivag discovered he was out of compliance with the Order, he "contacted a fencing company and had a complete site-obscuring fence installed within two days" after receiving said notice. CP 121.

Judgment, its *only* avenue of redress was to issue a writ and then bring a motion for contempt if necessary—not engage in self-help. RCW 6.17.070; Appendix A. That avenue clearly would have avoided the more than \$13,000 cost to the City and the taking and disposal of tens of thousands of dollars in inventory and personal and business records from Wivag.

At oral argument in front of the trial court below, the City only fleetingly addressed these rules above, only to ultimately state that it was "an injunction [it] was enforcing, not a judgment" and thus it did not need to comply with state statutes pertaining to execution of judgments—*i.e.* RCW 6.17.070. Verbatim Report of Proceedings, p. 4. However, this statement is completely contrary to both the City's own Motion for Supplemental Judgment and the Stipulated Judgment as well.

Specifically, in its Motion for Entry of Supplemental Judgment, the City states that it was seeking to recoup the total costs and fees "incurred by the City for conducting the **abatement action**" and in no place mentions that it was merely enforcing an injunction. CP 33. Furthermore, the Stipulated Judgment and Injunction itself states that, in the event that Wivag failed to complete all the required actions within the order, the City was authorized to abate the public nuisances "consistent with the Cle Elum Municipal Code and state law." CP 6. Ultimately, the City's contention at oral argument that it was somehow merely enforcing an *injunction* is belied by the clear language of both its own motion and its underlying order.

.

Nevertheless, even if the Court accepts that the City was merely enforcing an injunction, the City still failed to go through legal steps to enforce the injunction. Specifically, RCW 7.40.150 provides:

> Whenever it shall appear to any court granting a restraining order or an **order of injunction**, or by affidavit, that any person **has willfully disobeyed the order** after notice thereof, such court shall award an attachment for **contempt** against the party charged, or an order to show cause why it should not issue. The attachment or order shall be issued by the clerk of the court, and directed to the sheriff, and shall be served by him or her.

*Id.* (emphasis added). RCW 7.40.150 plainly requires contempt proceedings to enforce an injunction just as RCW 6.17.070 plainly requires contempt proceedings to enforce a judgment. Failure to comply with an injunction does not allow the other party to take matters in its own hands without judicial oversight. In the end, state law requires that the court be involved to ensure that the parties are not enforcing court orders improperly.

In the end, the City's failure to bring a motion for contempt to enforce the Judgment and engaging in self-help, violated the controlling statutes and violated Wivag's rights. Indeed, failing to bring a motion for contempt led to the unneeded expenditure of more than \$13,000 which the City is now, unabashedly, seeking to recover from Wivag. In a word, Wivag should not be punished due to the City's oversight by being forced to compensate the City for violating his rights. Therefore, the trial court's ruling, granting the City's motion for supplemental costs, should be reversed and ultimately denied.

.

III.

### IN THE ALTERNATIVE, THE CITY FAILED TO COMPLY WITH ITS OWN PRECONDITIONS TO ENFORCEMENT OF NUISANCE ABATEMENT

If this Court finds that the City did not violate RCW 6.17.070 by failing to serve a write of execution and move for contempt after Wivag allegedly violated the Judgment, the City nevertheless failed to comply with the required preconditions to abate a nuisance. Failure to follow these enforcement preconditions ultimately resulted in improperly taking and destroying Wivag's inventory and business records.

RCW 7.48.250 provides that anyone convicted of erecting, causing or contriving a public or common nuisance, "shall be punished by a fine not exceeding one thousand dollars, and the court with or without such fine, may order such nuisance to be abated, and issue a warrant...." *Id.*; *see also* Appendix A. Specifically pertaining to the warrant for abatement, RCW 7.48.260 outlines the process by which such a warrant is issued:

When, upon indictment or information, complaint or action, any person is adjudged guilty of a nuisance, if it be in superior court the court may in addition to the fine imposed, if any, or to the judgment for damages or costs, for which a separate execution may issue, order that such nuisance be abated, or removed at the expense of the defendant, and after inquiry into and estimating, as nearly as may be, the sum necessary to defray the expenses of such abatement, the court may issue a warrant therefor...

RCW 7.48.260 (emphasis added); *see also* Appendix A. Stated another way, if a party is found guilty of nuisance, the court may issue a warrant to abate the nuisance, but only *after* inquiry into estimating the cost to defray the expenses of the abatement. *See id.* However, the court may allow the defendant to stay the warrant, provided that he or she enters into a bond conditioned upon the defendant's cure of the nuisance within no longer than six months' time. RCW 7.48.270; Appendix A.

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