# FILED May 07, 2013 Court of Appeals Division III

State of Washington

NO. 312135

## IN THE COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION III OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

GARY WIVAG and SHERRY TRUMBALL, d/b/a S&G LAND LTD.,

Appellants,

v.

CITY OF CLE ELUM,

Respondent.

#### BRIEF OF RESPONDENT CITY OF CLE ELUM

Michael R. Kenyon
WSBA No. 15802
Nicole L. Hay
WSBA No. 45132
Kenyon Disend, PLLC
11 Front Street South
Issaquah, Washington 98027-3820
(425) 392-7090
Attorneys for Respondent
City of Cle Elum

##

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

#### IV. ARGUMENT

#### A. Standard of Review.

On appeal, Wivag does not contest the validity of the Stipulated Judgment or the voluntary nature of his assent. Rather, his sole assignment of error argues simply that the trial court erred in entering the Supplemental Judgment due to a failure to follow statutory procedures

claimed to apply.

The Stipulated Judgment constitutes a binding agreement under Civil Rule 2A. A stipulated judgment "will not be reviewed on appeal" absent fraud, mistake, or want of jurisdiction. *Washington Asphalt Co. v. Harold Kaeser Co.*, 51 Wn. 2d 89, 91, 316 P.2d 126 (1957). If the court does undertake review on appeal, a trial court's decision to enforce a binding agreement under Civil Rule 2A is reviewed for abuse of discretion. *In re Patterson*, 93 Wn. App. 579, 586, 969 P.2d 1106 (Div. 1 1999); *Morris v. Maks*, 69 Wn. App. 865, 850 P.2d 1357 (Div. 1 1993).6

Here, the trial court enforced the Stipulated Judgment simply by entry of the Supplemental Judgment pursuant to the plain terms of the process set out in the Stipulated Judgment and agreed to in writing by Wivag and his counsel.

B. The Trial Court Properly Issued the Supplemental Judgment Pursuant to the Terms of the Stipulated Judgment.

The Stipulated Judgment signed by both Wivag and his counsel and entered by the trial court constitutes a binding agreement under Civil

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> De novo review is not the applicable standard of review because no dispute exists between the parties regarding the validity of the Stipulated Judgment or the voluntary

nature of the assent of Wivag and his counsel. De novo review applies in cases of genuine dispute regarding the terms of a CR 2A agreement. See, e.g., Lavigne v. Green, 106 Wn. App. 12, 16, 23 P.3d 515 (Div. 3 2001) (applying de novo review to motion to determine whether settlement agreement complied with CR 2A); Brinkerhoff v. Campbell, 99 Wn. App. 692, 696, 994 P.2d 911 (Div. 1 2000) (exercising de novo review when determining whether settlement agreement is genuinely disputed).

Rule 2A. A written stipulation, signed by either the parties or their counsel, is binding on the parties and on the court. CR 2A; State v. Nation, 110 Wn. App. 651, 41 P.3d 1204 (Div. 3 2002) (binding party to agreed stipulation regarding witness's inability to testify); see also Reilly v. State, 18 Wn. App. 245, 253 and n. 17, 566 P.2d 1283 (Div. 3 1977) (binding parties to stipulation of one issue before court); Riordan v. Commercial Travelers Mutual Insurance Company, 11 Wn. App. 707, 715, 525 P.2d 804 (Div. 2 1974) (binding insurance company to signed stipulation regarding timeliness of notice). Stipulations are favored, and will be enforced if they are reasonable, not against sound public policy, are within the general scope of the case, and conform to form requirements of the applicable rule. Smyth Worldwide Movers, Inc. v. Whitney (1971) 6 Wn. App. 176, 178, 491 P.2d 1356 (Div. 1 1971). The trial court properly enforced the terms of the Stipulated Judgment when it issued the Supplemental Judgment. Wivag concedes that he failed to satisfy both the CUP Date and the Fencing Date set forth in the Stipulated Judgment. CP 36 and 120-21. His argument essentially constitutes a request for this Court to re-write the contract between the parties and to forgive his non-performance.

Wivag further argues that the Supplemental Judgment was improperly entered because the City failed to comply with the abatement

procedures of RCW 7.48.250 and the execution procedures of RCW 6.17.070. These arguments ignore the fact that Wivag agreed in the Stipulated Judgment that the City could take "any" corrective action reasonably necessary to abate the nuisances, including completing the abatement, seeking contempt sanctions, or "any other remedy available at law or in equity." CP 6. The agreement between the parties does not require compliance with, or even refer to, RCW 7.48.250 or RCW 6.17.070.

# 1. Wivag Offers No Defense Against the Enforceability of the Stipulated Judgment and Injunction.

For sound litigation strategy reasons, Wivag and his able counsel both executed the Stipulated Judgment in January 2012. Wivag knew he was out of compliance with the Hearing Examiner's order. CP 3, ¶ 3. Daily penalties for non-compliance in the amount of \$500 had been accruing since June 3, 2008. CP 27, ¶ 4. Had he continued to litigate, and lost, the ensuing judgment would have devastated Wivag.

The City proposed eminently reasonable financial and other terms designed to cure the existing public nuisances. Wivag agreed to those terms. Wivag failed to comply with his agreement. This appeal is no more complicated than that.

A stipulated judgment constitutes a contract that contains the terms of the judgment between the parties. *Washington Asphalt*, 51 Wn. 2d at 91. A party's consent to a stipulated judgment "excuses all prior errors and operates to end all controversy between the parties, within the scope of the judgment." *Id.* Absent fraud, mistake, or want of jurisdiction, a stipulated judgment should not be reviewed on appeal. *Id.* 

Here, Wivag claims no fraud, mutual mistake, or want of jurisdiction on appeal. While Wivag does admit that he mistakenly relied on a Fencing Date contained in an unexecuted draft of the Stipulated Judgment, his unilateral mistake of fact is wholly insufficient to void or reform the contract. *See Haller v. Wallis*, 89 Wn. 2d 539, 544, 573 P.2d 1302 (1978) (determining mutual mistake was necessary to set aside stipulated agreement); *see also In re Estate of Hartford*, 86 Wn. App. 259, 262-63, 936 P.2d 48 (Div. 1 1997) (refusing to set aside settlement agreement where court found only unilateral mistake).

Furthermore, to the extent Wivag could have relied on the statutory procedures of RCW 7.48.250 and RCW 6.17.070 as he argues here, Wivag waived that choice. "The doctrine of waiver ordinarily applies to all rights or privileges to which a person is legally entitled." *Schroeder v. Excelsior Management Group LLC*, 297 P.3d 677, 683 (Wn. 2013). Waiver occurs where a party voluntarily relinquishes a known right. *Id.* A party can

waive most rights by agreement, absent legislative intent to the contrary.

Id.

Here, and with the advice of his counsel, Wivag voluntarily agreed to the procedures and remedies set forth in the Stipulated Judgment. Wivag is bound by his decision.

## 2. <u>Wivag Erroneously Relies on RCW 7.48.250 as the Exclusive Procedure for Nuisance Abatement.</u>

Even if Wivag had not agreed to the terms of the Stipulated Judgment, his reliance upon RCW 7.48.250 is misplaced. As a matter of contract, the Stipulated Judgment does not require the City to abate nuisances initially or exclusively pursuant to that statute.

More fundamentally, Article XI, Section 11 of the Washington Constitution grants municipalities the authority "to make and enforce within its limits all such local, police, sanitary and other regulations as are not in conflict with general laws." Art. XI, Sec. 11, Wash. Const. Municipal regulations designed to combat public nuisances are common, and reflect the goals and values of individual communities (e.g., Seattle takes a different approach to public nuisance abatement than does, say, Pateros). Accordingly, a State statute regarding public nuisances was not intended to and does not preempt the field of public nuisance regulation. *Heesan Corp. v. City of Lakewood*, 118 Wn. App. 341, 354, 75 P.3d 1003

(Div. 2 2003).

As a code city, the City of Cle Elum:

[S]hall have all powers possible for a city or town to have under the Constitution of this state, and not specifically denied to code cities by law. By way of illustration and not in limitation, such powers may be exercised in regard to . . . real property of all kinds, . . . structures, or any other improvement or use of real or personal property, . . . .

RCW 35A.11.020; see also, RCW 35A.21.160, which states:

A code city organized or reorganized under this title shall have all of the powers which any city of any class may have and shall be governed in matters of state concern by statutes applicable to such cities in connection with such powers to the extent to which such laws are appropriate and are not in conflict with the provisions specifically applicable to code cities.

State law explicitly grants a first class city the power to "declare what shall be a nuisance, and to abate the same . . . ." RCW 35.22.280(30). As a code city, Cle Elum is likewise vested with this grant of authority to regulate public nuisances apart from the procedures of RCW 7.48, by virtue of the grant of authority set forth in RCW 35A.21.160.

Moreover, the Washington Supreme Court has made clear that a court's equitable powers include the enjoining of public nuisances, and

injunctions of that type need not be tied to specific statutory procedures. State v. Lew, 25 Wn. 2d 854, 865, 172 P.2d 289 (1946). In Lew, the Court considered the validity of a stipulated judgment and injunction which enjoined the defendant from committing the public nuisance of gambling on his property for a period of one year. Id. at 859-60. In affirming the injunction, the Court considered the defendant's own consent to the stipulated judgment and injunction. Id. at 868. The Court further determined that the existence of statutory remedies for nuisance abatement did not preclude a court from exercising its equitable powers to issue injunctive relief. Id. at 865-67. In its analysis, the Court noted that statutory remedies may prove "inadequate because the judgment cannot be made continuing in its operation." Id. at 866. The described inadequacy of the remedy supports injunctive relief to abate public nuisances in broad form. Id. at 867; see CP 6, ¶ 4 (trial court retained jurisdiction in order for City to "bring motions for contempt and to seek any other remedy. . . .").

Here, as in *Lew*, the trial court properly exercised its equitable powers in entering the Stipulated Judgment, which included the Injunction and Order. CP 2 - 8 and 35. The trial court's authority to do so exists separate and apart from the statutory authority of RCW 7.48. The trial court properly issued the Supplemental Judgment at issue in this appeal based on the plain terms of the Stipulated Judgment. CP 128 - 130.

## 3. <u>Wivag Erroneously Relies on RCW 6.17.070, Which Is</u> <u>Inapplicable to Injunctions</u>.

For the reasons described in Section IV(B)(2), above, Wivag's reliance on RCW 6.17.070 is similarly misplaced.

Additionally and independently, the statute is inapplicable here. RCW 6.17.070 allows for contempt proceedings in cases where a judgment requires payment of money or delivery of real or personal property. Wivag timely paid the money judgment, and the City does not seek the "delivery" of any property.

That statute falls under RCW Title 6, "Enforcement of Judgments." Title 6 generally provides for three different types of execution: (1) against the judgment debtor's property; (2) for delivery of the judgment debtor's property; or (3) "commanding enforcement of or obedience to any other order of the court." RCW 6.17.060.

Here, Wivag appeals the Supplemental Judgment even though it awards costs for the City's abatement actions taken pursuant to the express terms of the Stipulated Judgment. CP 6, 35-36 and 130. Wivag stipulated to the very process and remedy about which he now complains, and his stipulation applies *in addition to* contempt sanctions and any other available remedy. CP 6,  $\P$  4.

Execution on a judgment is not at issue. Wivag himself correctly notes that he satisfied the money judgment portion of the Stipulated Judgment by the timely payment of \$10,000. Brief of Appellants, at 8; CP 120. Instead, Wivag complains about terms of the injunction to which he agreed. As described above, however, a trial court has the discretion to exercise its equitable powers to fashion such relief (or, more precisely in this case, to enter such relief in the form of an agreed judgment put forth by the parties).

Even if the City's abatement actions constituted execution upon a judgment rather than enforcement of the terms of the agreed injunction set forth in the Stipulated Judgment, RCW 6.17.070 does not identify contempt proceedings as the exclusive remedy for executing upon a judgment. The relevant part of that statute states:

When a judgment of a court of record requires the performance of any other act, a certified copy of the judgment may be served on the party against whom it is given or the person or officer who is required by the judgment or by law to obey the same, and a writ may be issued commanding the person or officer to obey or enforce the judgment. Refusal to do so may be punished by the court as for contempt.

RCW 6.17.070 (emphasis added).

The broad language of this statute grants a court the authority to punish a party for contempt if it fails to abide by a judgment. *Id.* Nowhere does the statute deprive a court of its equitable powers to fashion alternative remedies. *Id. See* CP 6, ¶ 4.

Here, and after four years of failing to comply with the terms of the Hearing Examiner's order, Wivag also failed to comply with the terms of the Stipulated Judgment. CP 36 and 120-121. Accordingly, the City properly chose to abate the long-standing and numerous public nuisances on Wivag's Property, and to obtain the Supplemental Judgment under the agreed terms of the Stipulated Judgment. CP 6, 35-36 and 130.

# C. The City Is Entitled to an Award of Its Attorney Fees on Appeal.

The Stipulated Judgment authorizes the City to recover its attorney fees and other costs incurred in taking action "reasonably necessary" to abate the public nuisances. CP 6. In the Supplemental Judgment, the trial court accordingly included an award of the City's attorney fees. CP 129. Defending this appeal likewise constitutes such a "reasonably necessary" action.

The Stipulated Judgment is a contract between the parties and is subject to contract principles. *Washington Asphalt*, 51 Wn. 2d at 91; *Wm. Dickson Co. v. Pierce County*, 128 Wn. App. 488, 493, 116 P.3d 409 (Div.

2 2005). Where a contract allows an award of attorney fees at trial, an appellate court has authority to award attorney fees on appeal. *Bloor v. Fritz*, 143 Wn. App. 718, 753, 180 P.3d 805 (Div. 2 2008). This Court should award the City's attorney fees incurred on appeal.

#### V. CONCLUSION

Wivag and his experienced counsel both executed the Stipulated Judgment, and wisely so. Continuing a four-year period of non-compliance, Wivag failed to comply with his own agreement as reflected in the Stipulated Judgment. The trial court properly and unremarkably then entered the Supplemental Judgment at issue in this appeal.

Wivag offers no legal argument sufficient to excuse compliance with his own contract. Wivag fails to even argue the existence of fraud, mutual mistake, or lack of jurisdiction under the applicable standard of review. Moreover, and as reviewed by this Court, the trial court's entry of the Supplemental Judgment under the express terms of the contract between the parties cannot constitute an abuse of discretion.

This Court should affirm the trial court's entry of the Supplemental Judgment. The City should be awarded its attorney fees on appeal.

///

///

III